
        TOWN OF KITTERY 
      200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: (207) 475-1329 Fax: (207) 439-6806 
                              

 

             
July 8, 2019     Kittery Town Council 

   Regular Meeting 
                    6:00 p.m. 

      
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Introductory 
 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
4.         Roll Call   
 
5. Agenda Amendment and Adoption 
 
6. Town Manager’s Report   
 

7. Acceptance of Previous Minutes - None 
 

8. Interviews for the Board of Appeals and Planning Board - None 
 
9. All items involving the town attorney, town engineers, town employees or other town  

consultants or requested office. 
 
a. (070119-1) The Kittery Town Council moves to receive a presentation from the       

Library Building Committee on the Rice Public Library Renovation and Expansion.      
  
 

10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

  
a. (070119-2) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a New        

Victualer’s License application for James Day, 527 Beech Hill Road, Auburn, Maine 
04210.  Doing business as Street Eats Mobile Food Truck, located at 230 US Route 
1, Kittery, Maine 03904.  
 

b. (070119-3) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a New     
Victualer’s License application for Rose Van Nickell, 50 Woodlawn Avenue, Kittery 
ME 03904.  Doing business as Rose’s Spring Rolls Mobile Food Truck located at 230 
US Route 1, Kittery, ME 03905. 

 
c. (070119-4) The Kittery Town Council moves to hold a public hearing for a New     

Victualer’s License application for Petrogas Group New England Inc., 200           
Brickstone Square, Suite 404, Andover, MA 01810. Doing business as 7-Eleven @ 
The Kittery Outlets, located at 286 US Rte 1, Kittery, ME 03904. 

    
11. DISCUSSION 

a.  Discussion by members of the public (three minutes per person)  
b.  Response to public comment directed to a particular Councilor 
c.  Chairperson’s response to public comments 

 

    



12.    UNFINISHED BUSINESS   
 
13. NEW BUSINESS 

 

a.  Donations/gifts received for Council disposition. - None 
 

b. (070109-5) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve the disbursement               
warrants. 

 
c. (070119-6) The Kittery Town Council moves to approve a request from St.              

Raphael’s Church in Kittery to hang a banner in front of the Kittery                           
Community Center for their Annual Holiday Bazaar event. 

 
d. (070119-7) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on August 

12, 2019 on placing a proposed referendum question on the November 5, 2019 
Ballot – to authorize the Town of Kittery council to issue bonds in a total amount not 
to exceed $5,000,000 to expand, renovate and improve the Rice Public Library. 

 
e. (070119-8) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on August 

12, 2019 for an Ordinance to Authorize the Issuance of General Obligation Bonds in 
Principal Amount of Up To $5,000,000 to Expand, Renovate and Improve the Rice 
Public Library.  

 
f. (070119-9) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on 

September 9, 2019 for Title 6-Animal Control.  
 
g. (070119-10) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on August 

12, 2019 on placing a non-binding referendum on the November 5, 2019 Ballot – 
Leash Law and Dog Park. 

 
h. (070119-11) The Kittery Town Council moves to schedule a public hearing on August 

12, 2019 on placing a non-binding referendum on the November 5, 2019 Ballot – 
Kittery Water District Chloramine and Ammonia.  

 
i. (070119-12) The Kittery Town Council moves to appoint Finance Director, Brenda 

Fox-Howard as Acting Town Manager from July 15th through July 19th.  

   
14. COUNCILOR ISSUES OR COMMENTS 
 
15.   COMMITTEE AND OTHER REPORTS 
 

a. Communications from the Chairperson  
b. Committee Reports  

 
16.  EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
17.   ADJOURNMENT     
         
 
 
Posted:  July 3, 2019 



 

 
Town Manager’s Report to the Town Council 

July 8, 2019 
 

1. Accessory Dwelling Units – The Council/Planning Board Workshop concluded with a mix of results.  
There is clearly support for the objective of increasing the available housing stock in Kittery by 
removing barriers in the ADU ordinance.  There was no disagreement regarding the proposed 
design/lot standards (unit size, setbacks, lot coverage).  The Workshop discussion focused on short-
term-rentals (STRs) and the potential for ADUs to become predominately tourist lodging.  With the 
public hearing not scheduled until late October, I wanted to provide the Council and the public with a 
revised ordinance as soon as possible, to allow plenty of time for review, consideration, and questions.  
 
The proposed revision eliminates the owner-occupancy requirement, reincorporates a 30-day 
minimum rental period, and introduces an exemption on the 30-day minimum rental period for legally 
existing ADUs at the time the ordinance becomes effective.  To note, the 30-day minimum does not 
apply to STRs universally, just ADUs.  Further, we will propose that if the ordinance is adopted, it not 
become effective for six months, to allow existing unpermitted ADUs to come into code compliance 
and be exempt from the 30-day minimum rental period prior to the ordinance effective date. 
 

2. Thresher Memorial Circle Bushes – The bushes in the Memorial Circle have died off and need to be 
replaced.  The Thresher Memorial Circle is an important monument in Kittery and serves as a gateway 
to the town.  The condition of the plantings is important.  We will be replacing the bushes in the 
coming months.  The cost to replace them is approximately $2,500.  The recent increase in Thresher 
donations is making it possible for us to undertake the replanting. 
 

3. Stop Sign at Chauncey Creek Rd/Gerrish Island Ln – Councilor Lemont requested we evaluate the 
intersection of Chauncey Creek Rd and Gerrish Island Ln for stop signs.  The traffic data does not 
necessarily warrant the stop signs; however, we have determined the addition of a four-way stop will 
not negatively impact traffic safety.  I am seeking Council consensus to draft a revision to Title 10 in 
order to add a four-way stop at this intersection. 
 

4. Pedestrian Alert Signage at Walker/State Road – Multiple Councilors have asked about the 
concurrent pedestrian crossing and right turn movements at the Walker/State Road intersection. DPW 
Commissioner Dave Rich has investigated some options to enhance pedestrian safety crossing.  He has 
identified an illuminated LED “Yield to Pedestrian” sign that might be effective.  The signs are 
designed to be mounted on the traffic signal mast arm and to light up when a pedestrian pushes the 
crosswalk button.  The total estimated cost to install the signs is $18,500.  

 
5. Mosquito and Tick Treatment – Chairperson Spiller requested information on the Town’s mosquito 

and tick services.  The Town’s vendor performs a mosquito larvae application in roadside ditches, 
flooded fields, catch basins and water basins.  Adult mosquito application and tick application occurs 
at schools and parks only when there is a public health issue.  In 2018, we treated Memorial Field 
following a positive test for West Nile.  We work directly with our vendor and the Maine Center for 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
Office of the Town Manager 

200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 
Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 

kamaral@kitteryme.org  

 
 

 

mailto:kamaral@kitteryme.org


 

Disease Control on such cases, and follow our action plan relative to spraying, public notification, etc.  
Attached are the test results for this season, to-date. 

 
6. Public Hearings on Zoning Amendments  – The public hearings on the Title 16 amendments (A-

Frame Signs, and the Updated Zoning Map) needed to be moved to a future meeting date, due to 
timing constraints regarding the required newspaper advertisements.  We were unable to meet the 
posting deadlines, per 30-A MRS §4352, which requires notice of public hearing on zoning ordinances 
be published in the newspaper at least twice, with the first publication no less than 12 days prior to the 
public hearing.  The public hearings will be scheduled for the August agenda. 

 
Upcoming Dates: 

• Free School Nutrition Summer Lunch – M-F through Aug 23, 12PM, Kittery Community Center 
• National Night Out – August 6, Kittery Community Center 
• Nomination Papers Due – August 19, Town Hall 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Kendra Amaral 
Town Manager 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

1 
 

 

AMEND Title 16 -Article 2 Definitions as follows: 1 

ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT (ADU)  2 
An apartment which is part of an existing structure on the property where the owner of the property 3 
occupies one of the units. The accessory dwelling unit may be rented so that the owner-occupant may 4 
benefit from the additional income. The owner may also elect to occupy the accessory dwelling unit and 5 
rent the principal dwelling unit.A secondary dwelling unit with facilities used or intended to be used for 6 
living, sleeping, cooking, eating, and sanitary facilities for one or more persons, whether attached to the 7 
principal dwelling unit, detached from it or contained within it. 8 

AMEND Title 16 - Article 25 - Accessory Dwelling Units as follows: 9 

§ 16.8.25.1 Purpose.  10 
It is the intent of this article to impose provide standards that enable homeowners to create accessory 11 
dwelling units that are compatible with this title and do not negatively impact the character of the existing 12 
neighborhood or overburden the existing infrastructure. to (1) provide a means for residents – including 13 
seniors, single parents, and families with grown children – to remain in their homes and neighborhoods, 14 
and (2) increase the housing stock of existing neighborhoods in a manner that is compatible with their 15 
size and scale, and (3) allow more efficient use of existing housing stock and infrastructure, and (4) 16 
provide a broader range of affordable housing options.  The purpose of this article is not intended to 17 
create a new supply of short-term rental (STR) units, such as those commonly advertised to tourists. 18 

§ 16.8.25.2 Applicability.  19 
A . An accessory dwelling unit is allowed in all zoning districts where the use is permitted in Chapter 20 
16.3. The unit must be located:  in an existing structure, with a certificate of occupancy issued more than 21 
five years prior to the date of the ADU application, on the property where the owner of the property 22 
occupies one of the units. The accessory dwelling unit may be attached to, or detached from, the primary 23 
dwelling unit. No expansion of a building's footprint is allowed to accommodate an accessory dwelling 24 
unit. 25 

(1) within an existing structure, either principal or accessory on the property; or 26 

(2) attached to the existing principal structure, sharing a common wall; or 27 

(3) within a new accessory structure constructed for this purpose on the property. 28 

B. Accessory dwelling units that have a valid certificate of occupancy issued prior to [DATE] are 29 
exempted from the Use Standard §16.8.25.4.C. 30 

§ 16.8.25.3 Application for accessory dwelling unit.  31 
A. An application for an accessory dwelling unit must be made by the owner of the parcel on which the 32 

primary residential unit sits. The completed application and associated fees must be submitted to the 33 
Town Planner and Code Enforcement Officer for review.  34 

B. Applications for an accessory dwelling unit that meets the unit size standards and development 35 
standards contained in this article may be approved administratively and require approval by both 36 
the Town Planner and Code Enforcement Officer.  37 

C. An accessory dwelling unit that fails to meet the unit size standards and/or the development 38 
standards provided in this article may not receive administrative approval; however, the accessory 39 
dwelling unit may still be allowed. See § 16.8.25.4A 4Cand B below.  40 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

2 
 

D. The Town limits the number of new accessory dwelling unit permits to no more than 22 in the 41 
remainder of the calendar year of implementation and no more than 10 per calendar year on a first-42 
come first-served basis.  43 

E. One of the units on the property, either primary or secondary, must be occupied by the property 44 
owner at all times during the period of permitting. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, 45 
the property owner must submit a recorded copy of deed restrictions to the Town Planner, outlining 46 
the owner-occupancy requirement.  47 

§ 16.8.25.4 Accessory dwelling unit standards.  48 
A. Lot standards. 49 

(1) Legal lot/residence. An accessory dwelling unit is allowed only on lots within the Town that contain 50 
a one legal, single-family residence as the primary unit.  51 

(2) Number of accessory dwelling units per lot. No more than one accessory dwelling unit is permitted 52 
on a lot.  53 

(3) Zone lot size and unit density. The property on which an accessory dwelling unit is located must 54 
meet the size required by the applicable a zone'szoning standards for the principal residence except 55 
in the case of legally, non-conforming lots. However, an accessory dwelling unit is exempt from the 56 
density requirements of such the zone in which they are located.  57 

(4) Setbacks and coverage. Yard setbacks for the zone must be met.  However, for legally non-58 
conforming lots where a proposed accessory dwelling unit will be attached to a principal dwelling 59 
unit and cannot meet the zone’s side and rear yard setbacks, the percentage by which a lot is smaller 60 
than the required lot size for the zone will dictate the required setback for that lot.  For example, a 61 
30,000 square foot legally non-conforming lot in a zone that requires 40,000 square feet would 62 
require side and rear yard setbacks that are 75% of the zone’s side and rear yard setbacks.  Building 63 
coverage requirements will remain as required by the zone. 64 

(45) Utility connections. Accessory dwelling units must be connected to adequate water and sewer 65 
wastewater services. 66 

(a) Public sewer.  67 

[1] Service: verification, in writing, of adequate service to support the additional flow from the 68 
Superintendent of Wastewater Treatment Facilities.  69 

[2] Fees: Payment of appropriate fees for connection to the municipal sewer system is required prior to 70 
obtaining the certificate of occupancy.  71 

(b) Septic systems. Verification of adequate sewage disposal for subsurface waste disposal is required. 72 
The septic system, existing or proposed, must be verified as adequate or reconstructed as required. 73 
Plans for subsurface waste disposal must be prepared by a Maine-licensed site evaluator in full 74 
compliance with the State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules, 10-144 C.M.R. 241.  75 

(c) Public water. Verification in writing is required from the Kittery Water District for volume and 76 
supply.  77 

(d) Wells. Verification of the potable water supply for private wells is required. Tests of the existing 78 
well or proposed well, if applicable, must indicate that the water supply is potable and acceptable for 79 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

3 
 

domestic use and must conform to the recommendations included in the "Manual for Evaluating 80 
Public Drinking Water Supplies, Public Health Service No. 1180 (1969)."  81 

(6) Parking.  Each accessory dwelling unit must have one on-site parking space in addition to the parking 82 
for the primary dwelling unit.  Tandem parking is permitted. 83 

(57) Private road or right-of-way access. Where an applicant seeks to locate an accessory dwelling unit 84 
on a privately maintained road or right-of-way the following applies: 85 

(a) Applicant must provide submit written consent from the road or home owner’s association or owner 86 
and parties responsible for street maintenance.; and  87 

(b) Road construction standards must support the additional trips generated.  88 

B. Unit standards. 89 

(1) Unit size. The habitable floor space of an accessory dwelling unit must be a minimum of 400 square 90 
feet and no larger than 800 square feet.The size of an accessory dwelling unit must meet the 91 
minimum size for a dwelling unit as set by building code standards adopted and amended from time 92 
to time by Maine’s Bureau of Building Codes and Standards, and be no larger than 1,000 square feet.  93 
For principal dwelling units 1,000 square feet or smaller, an accessory dwelling unit may be no 94 
greater than 80% of the size of the principal dwelling unit, as measured in square feet.  An accessory 95 
dwelling unit may have no more than two bedrooms.  96 

(2) Unit location. An accessory dwelling unit: 97 

(a) An accessory dwelling unit must meet on or more of the following conditions: 98 

Must b[1] Be fully constructed within the existing footprint of any legal primary residence or accessory 99 
building; or.  100 

[2] Share a common wall with the principal residence, providing yard setbacks per 16.8.25.4.B.1; or 101 

[3] Be constructed as a new accessory building containing an accessory dwelling unit, providing yard 102 
setbacks can be met for the zone. 103 

(b) Accessory dwelling units Wwill be allowed to be fully constructed within inside of the primary 104 
residence buildingprincipal residence even if the building does not meet yard setbacks. where the 105 
building has nonconforming yard setbacks.  106 

(c) Accessory dwelling units Wwill not be allowed in accessory or detached buildings encroaching on 107 
yard setbacks.  108 

(3) Building code compliance. An accessory dwelling unit must satisfy the requirements contained in 109 
the building code and fire code as currently adopted by the Town. See § 16.5.3E, Conformance to 110 
standards.  111 

C.  Use standards. The accessory dwelling unit may not be rented for less than a 30-day period. 112 

CD. Development standards. Should an accessory dwelling unit fail to meet the applicable unit 113 
development standards listed in this article, the accessory dwelling unit may still be allowed if the 114 
applicant obtains approval from the Board of Appeals under the provisions of a miscellaneous 115 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

4 
 

variation request. , as outlined in §16.6.4.C. The Board of Appeals shall review any appeal decision 116 
in conformance with §16.6.6. “Basis for decision”.  117 

§ 16.8.25.5 Violations. 118 

A. A violation of the Use Standard 16.8.25.4.C will lose the certificate of occupancy for the unit for no 119 
less than 30 days, and be assessed a penalty of $200. 120 



Pool 

ID#

Date Trap Location Town Trap Genus Species # Result

6/5/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc cantator 13

6/5/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 4

6/5/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc provocans 1

6/5/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc punctor 1

6/5/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 6

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc cantator 3

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L An walkeri 1

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cx salinarius 2

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 1

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc punctor 3

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc abserratus 1

6/5/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 3

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 1

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc japonicus 4

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L An punctipennis 2

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cs melanura 4

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cx salinarius 1

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 26

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 25

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 6

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc stimulans 4

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc provocans 4

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc punctor 11

6/12/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc cantator 123

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 32

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 3

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc trivittatus 1

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L An punctipennis 2

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc japonicus 2

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L An walkeri 5

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 2

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cx salinarius 1

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cs melanura 1

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 22

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc punctor 11

6/12/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc abserratus 3

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 42

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 6

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cs melanura 17

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 19

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cx salinarius 1

Mosquito Collection Results - Kittery 



6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc cantator 57

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 11

6/19/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc abserratus 6

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 5

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 6

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 8

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cs melanura 4

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc cantator 12

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc abserratus 9

6/19/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc stimulans 6

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 7

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 3

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cs melanura 5

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc punctor 2

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 7

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 136

6/26/2019 Town Forest, Lewis Road Kittery L Oc cantator 57

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cq perturbans 106

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc cantator 79

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Ae cinereus 10

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc sollicitans 2

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc japonicus 1

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc triseriatus 1

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Ae vexans 3

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cx salinarius 22

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc canadensis 10

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Cs melanura 1

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc fitchii 21

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc stimulans 6

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc punctor 2

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc abserratus 2

6/26/2019 Memorial Field, 88 Old Post Road Kittery L Oc provocans 1















 
 

 

TOWN OF KITTERY 
200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904 

Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806 
 

 
R E P O R T  T O  T O W N  C O U N C I L  

 
Meeting Date: July 8, 2019 

From: Kendra Amaral, Town Manager 

CC: Library Building Committee 

Subject: Library Bond Referendum 

Council Sponsor:  Chairperson Judy Spiller 

 
 
The Library Building Committee has advanced the library renovation and expansion design to a point that 
is reasonable to seek the funding authorization for construction.  The Council will be asked to consider 
two measures:  

1) Authorization to place a binding bond referendum on the ballot for November 5, 2019; 
2) Adoption of Issuance Authorization which includes the various legal and regulatory requirements 

and authorizations for issuance of bonds under state and local law.  This authority can only be 
exercised if the voters approve the ballot measure. 

 
OVERVIEW 
As previously reported, the Library Building Committee has been advancing through its charge; working 
with the design team to complete the existing conditions analysis and concept design phase.  The 
schematic design phase of the renovation and expansion project is being wrapped up in July.   
 
The Committee has met 17 times since its formation in April of 2018.  It has held two public meetings; 
one at the concept design phase and one at the schematic design phase, and has gathered input via the 
Block Party, emails, and letters.   
 
The design has been funded through capital appropriations totaling $500,000 (FY19 and FY20). 
 
The design team, led by Scott Simons Architects, has assessed the existing program and Rice Building, 
developed a recommended building program (approximately 15,000 to 16,000 square feet), and developed 
multiple concept designs.  
 
At the current phase of design, the interior organization of public and back-of-house space has been 
determined.  Though walls and windows will likely still shift some during the remainder of the design; the 
internal layout is set. 
 
The exterior design of the expansion has undergone a number of revisions to arrive at a structure that 
reaches towards the Foreside, does not pretend to be historic, but complements the historic structure in 
interesting ways. 
 
A Schematic phase cost estimate for the design is underway and should be complete in the coming week.  
A preliminary estimate has the design within reaching distance of the $5,000,000 budget maximum, and a 



REPORT TO TOWN COUNCIL  JULY 8, 2019 

2 

plan to value engineer and refine the design to bring it within budget.  The schematic design cost estimate 
will be completed and provided for the August meeting. 

The design team is finishing up the schematic design phase, and plan to “put pencils down” until the bond 
referendum vote occurs; with the exception of pre-permitting work. 

STATEMENT OF NEED 
In accordance with Town Charter 6.07 and 30-A MRS §5721 and 5772 the Town Council is to submit to 
the qualified voters of the town at regular or special election, after public hearings, proposed financing 
through the issuance of bonds for a capital project. 

Additionally, the Town Council must also adopt an ordinance governing the manner in which such bonds 
are to be issued and utilized.   Upon adoption, the bonds still cannot be issued without the majority 
affirmative vote of the voters of Kittery in November. 

The proposed language has been drafted by and reviewed with both Bond Counsel (William Stockmeyer, 
Drummond Woodsum) and Bond Advisor Joseph Cuetara. 

PROPOSED SOLUTION/RECOMMENDATION 
Approve as presented. 

ATTACHMENTS 
 Proposed Binding Bond Referendum for November ballot
 Proposed Bond Authorization Ordinance
 Library Building Committee Charge



REDLINE DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

BOND REFERENDUM 

RICE PUBLIC LIBRARY EXPANSION, RENOVATIONS AND IMPROVEMENT 

“Shall the Town of Kittery council be authorized to issue bonds in a total amount not to exceed 1 
$5,000,000 for the purpose of funding costs to expand, renovate, and improve the Rice Public 2 
Library?” 3 

Yes 4 

No 5 

Background 6 
The Town of Kittery is seeking to expand, renovate, and improve the Rice Public Library.  The 7 
project will result in a 21st century library that is consolidated into a single building, accessible to all 8 
visitors/ADA accessible; with space for collections, children, young adult, and adult programs, 9 
flexible community meeting and program space, technology to meet the evolving needs for 10 
information access, and adequate parking.   11 

The construction and associated soft costs for implementation of the project are estimated to be 12 
$5,000,000.    Grants and private donations may be used to augment the project budget for 13 
enhanced building features, landscaping, furniture, fixtures, equipment and technology.  14 

The Library is a department of the Town of Kittery, and all assets of the Library including the Rice 15 
Building and the Taylor Building are owned by the Town.   16 

The debt will be general obligation bonds, funded through annual tax revenue.  The estimated cost 17 
of interest, at 3%, is $1,574,583, and the estimated total cost of principal and interest at maturity is 18 
$6,574,583. 19 

The total amount of bonds outstanding and unpaid is $23,927,920.  The Town’s capital 20 
improvement program (“CIP”) policy bonding limit, 2.5% of Total Valuation, is $42,997,500.  If the 21 
proposed bonds are approved, the Town will be at 67.3% of its total CIP policy bonding limit.  The 22 
Town does not have authorized, unissued bonds.  23 

The validity of the bond and of the voters' ratification of the bond may not be affected by any errors 24 
in the estimate made pursuant to Town Charter 6.07 paragraph (2). If the actual amount of the total 25 
debt service for the bond varies from the estimate, the ratification by the voters is nevertheless 26 
conclusive and the validity of the bond is not affected by reason of the variance.  27 



1 
 

Motion:   The Kittery Town Council moves to adopt an ordinance entitled, “Ordinance to 
Authorize Issuance of General Obligation Bonds in Principal Amount of up to 
$5,000,000 to Expand, Renovate, and Improve the Rice Public Library.” 

TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF KITTERY 

ORDINANCE TO AUTHORIZE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
IN PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF UP TO $5,000,000 

TO EXPAND, RENOVATE, AND IMPROVE THE RICE PUBLIC LIBRARY 

The Town of Kittery hereby ordains, pursuant to the requirements of the Charter of the Town 1 
of Kittery (the “Charter”) and 30-A M.R.S. §§ 5721 and 5772, the following: 2 

Section 1. Authorization of Bonds and Bond Anticipation Notes. 3 

1.1 The Town of Kittery (the “Town”) is hereby authorized to issue general obligation bonds 4 
in an amount not to exceed $5,000,000 and notes in anticipation thereof (collectively, the 5 
“Bonds”) for the purpose funding costs to expand, renovate, and improve the Rice Public 6 
Library (the “Project”). 7 

1.2 The Town is hereby authorized to accept and use Project gifts and donations, and may 8 
use the net sales proceeds of the Taylor Building, if any and if received prior to the sale 9 
of the Bonds, to reduce the principal amount of Bonds issued for the Project.  10 

Section 2. Appropriation of Bond Proceeds; Tax Levy. 11 

2.1 The proceeds of the Bonds, including investment earnings, accrued interest, and bond 12 
premium, if any, are appropriated for the costs of the Project, including costs of the 13 
Project in excess of the principal amount of the Bonds.   14 

2.2 An amount sufficient for the payment of the annual payments of principal and interest 15 
on the Bonds, not payable from other sources, shall be included in the tax levy of each 16 
year until the debt represented by the Bonds is extinguished. 17 

Section 3. Authorization of Treasurer to Arrange for Sale of Bonds and Determine Bond 18 
Details. 19 

3.1 The Treasurer of the Town (the “Treasurer”) is authorized to arrange for the sale of the 20 
Bonds, at one time or from time to time, as one or more separate bond issues, as tax-21 
exempt or as taxable obligations, at public or private sale to such parties as the Treasurer 22 
determines to be in the Town’s interest, and to execute and deliver loan agreements and 23 
other contracts for that purpose, all on such terms not inconsistent with the Charter and 24 
this Ordinance as the Treasurer shall approve, such approval to be conclusively 25 
evidenced by the execution thereof. 26 

3.2 In connection with the sale of any of the Bonds, the Treasurer is authorized to select and 27 
hire municipal advisors, other consultants, underwriters, registrars, paying agents, and 28 
transfer agents and to execute and deliver such contracts or agreements for that purpose 29 
as may be necessary or appropriate, and all actions the Treasurer has previously taken 30 
consistent with this authorization is hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects. 31 



2 
 

3.3 To the extent not inconsistent with the Charter or this Ordinance, the Treasurer is 32 
authorized to determine the date(s), maturity(ies), denomination(s), interest rate(s), 33 
place(s) of payment, form(s), and all other details, terms, and provisions of each issue of 34 
the Bonds, and to approve the form and manner of their sale and award, said approval to 35 
be conclusively evidenced by the execution thereof. 36 

3.4 The Treasurer is authorized to provide on behalf of the Town that the Bonds may be 37 
redeemable or callable, with or without premium, prior to their maturity. 38 

3.5 The Treasurer is authorized to prepare, or cause to be prepared, a Preliminary Official 39 
Statement and an Official Statement for use in the offering and sale of any of the Bonds 40 
in such form and containing such information as may be approved by the Treasurer with 41 
the advice of bond counsel for the Town.  The use and distribution of any such 42 
Preliminary Official Statement and Official Statement in the name and on behalf of the 43 
Town in connection with offering the Bonds for sale is hereby approved. 44 

Section 4. Bonds To Be Registered. 45 

4.1  The Bonds shall be issued in the name of the Town and in registered form transferable 46 
only on the registration books of the Town, which registration books may be kept by the 47 
Town or its transfer agent, upon surrender thereof with a written instrument of transfer, 48 
duly executed by the registered owner or his/her attorney duly authorized in writing.   49 

4.2 As an alternative to the provisions of Section 4.1, above, regarding physical transfer of 50 
Bonds, the Treasurer is authorized to undertake all acts necessary to provide for the 51 
issuance and transfer of the Bonds in book-entry form pursuant to the Depository Trust 52 
Company Book-Entry Only System and to enter into a Letter of Representation or any 53 
other contract, agreement, or understanding necessary or, in the Treasurer’s opinion, 54 
appropriate in order to qualify the Bonds for and participate in the Depository Trust 55 
Company Book-Entry Only System. 56 

Section 5. Form of Execution; Other Bond Terms. 57 

5.1  The Bonds shall be executed and delivered by the Treasurer and countersigned by the 58 
Chairperson of the Town Council (the “Chairperson”) under the official seal of the Town, 59 
attested by the Town Clerk of the Town (the “Clerk”), and otherwise be in such form and 60 
contain such terms and provisions not inconsistent herewith, as they shall approve, their 61 
approval to be conclusively evidenced by their execution thereof.  Any signature thereon 62 
may be by facsimile to the extent permitted by law. 63 

5.2 The appropriate officials of the Town are authorized to execute and deliver on behalf of 64 
the Town such other documents and certificates as may be necessary or convenient to the 65 
issuance, execution, or delivery of the Bonds. 66 

Section 6. Conformance with Arbitrage and Private Activity Rules. 67 

6.1  If the Bonds, or any of them, are issued on a tax exempt basis, the Treasurer is authorized 68 
and directed to certify on behalf of the Town that no part of the proceeds of the issue and 69 
sale of the Bonds shall be used, directly or indirectly, to acquire any securities and 70 
obligations, the acquisition of which would cause the Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” or 71 
“private activity bonds” within the meaning of Sections 148 and 141 of the Internal 72 



3 
 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and the Treasurer is authorized to so 73 
covenant and certify on behalf of the Town. 74 

Section 7. Authorization of Treasurer to Ensure Compliance with Applicable Federal 75 
Laws and Rules. 76 

7.1 If the Bonds, or any of them, are issued on a tax exempt basis, the Treasurer is authorized 77 
in connection with the Bonds to execute and deliver on behalf of the Town an arbitrage 78 
and use of proceeds certificate in form approved by bond counsel for the Town, and to 79 
covenant on behalf of the Town to file any information report and pay any rebate due to 80 
the United States in connection with the issuance of the Bonds, and to take all other 81 
lawful actions necessary to ensure that the interest on the Bonds will be excludable from 82 
the gross income of the owners thereof for purposes of federal income taxation and to 83 
refrain from taking any action which would cause interest on the Bonds to become 84 
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof. 85 

7.2 The Treasurer is authorized to covenant, certify, and agree, on behalf of the Town, for 86 
the benefit of the holders of the Bonds, that the Town will file any required reports, make 87 
any annual financial or material event disclosure, and take any other actions that may be 88 
necessary to ensure that the disclosure requirements imposed by Rule 15c2-12 of the 89 
Securities and Exchange Commission, if applicable, are met. 90 

7.3 The Treasurer, in consultation with bond counsel for the Town, is authorized to 91 
implement written procedures with respect to the Bonds for the purpose of (i) ensuring 92 
timely “remedial action” for any portion of the Bonds that may become “non-qualified 93 
bonds,” as those terms are defined in the Code and regulations thereunder; and (ii) 94 
monitoring the Town’s compliance following the issuance of the Bonds with the 95 
arbitrage, yield restriction, and rebate requirements of the Code and regulations 96 
thereunder. 97 

Section 8. Authorization of Treasurer to Designate Bonds as Bank Qualified. 98 

8.1 The Treasurer may designate, and is authorized to take all such actions as may be 99 
necessary to designate, any of the Bonds as qualified tax-exempt obligations for purposes 100 
of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. 101 

Section 9. Authorization to Effect Issuance, Sale, and Delivery of the Bonds. 102 

9.1  The Treasurer, Chairperson, and Clerk and other proper officials of the Town, acting 103 
singly, are hereby authorized and empowered in its name and on its behalf to do or cause 104 
to be done all such acts and things, not inconsistent herewith, as may be necessary or 105 
desirable in order to effect the issuance, sale, and delivery of the Bonds and the 106 
accomplishment of the Project herein authorized. 107 

9.2  If the Treasurer, Chairperson, or  Clerk for any reason are unavailable to, as applicable, 108 
approve, execute, attest, or deliver the Bonds or any other documents necessary or 109 
convenient to the issuance, execution, attestation, or delivery of the Bonds or the 110 
accomplishment of the Project, the person or persons then acting in any such capacity, 111 
whether as assistant, deputy, successor, or otherwise, shall be authorized to act for such 112 
unavailable official with the same force and effect as if such official had performed such 113 
act. 114 



4 
 

9.3  If any of the officers or officials of the Town who have signed, attested, or sealed the 115 
Bonds shall cease to be such officers or officials before the Bonds so signed, attested, 116 
and sealed shall have been actually authenticated or delivered by the Town, such Bonds 117 
nevertheless may be authenticated, delivered, and issued with the same force and effect 118 
as though the person or persons who signed, attested, or sealed the Bonds had not ceased 119 
to be such officer or official; and also, any such Bonds may be signed, attested, or sealed 120 
on behalf of the Town by those persons who, at the actual date of execution of the Bonds, 121 
shall be the proper officers or officials of the Town, although at the nominal date of the 122 
Bonds any such person shall not have been such officer or official. 123 

Section 10. Consolidation; Exchanges or Transfers of Bonds; Redemption. 124 

10.1 Any or all of the Bonds may be consolidated with and become a part of any other issue 125 
of bonds or notes authorized to be issued by any previous or subsequent ordinance of the 126 
Town Council.  127 

10.2 The Treasurer, Chairperson, and Clerk is authorized to, from time to time, execute such 128 
Bonds as may be required to provide for exchanges or transfers of Bonds authorized 129 
hereunder. 130 

10.3 The Bonds (or bonds issued to refund such Bonds) may be made subject to redemption 131 
prior to their stated dates of maturity at the option of the Town, as a whole or in part at 132 
any time, in such order of maturity as the Treasurer, in the Treasurer’s discretion, may 133 
determine at the respective redemption prices.  While any of the Bonds (or bonds issued 134 
to refund such Bonds) are outstanding, the Treasurer is authorized to issue and deliver 135 
refunding bonds to refund some or all of the Bonds then outstanding, and to determine 136 
the date, form, interest rate, maturities, and all other terms and details of such refunding 137 
bonds, including the form and manner of their sale and award. The Treasurer is further 138 
authorized to provide that any of such refunding bonds be made callable, with or without 139 
premium, prior to their stated date(s) of maturity.  Each refunding bond issued hereunder 140 
shall be signed by the Treasurer and Chairperson, either of both of whose signatures may 141 
be by facsimile to the extent permitted by law, attested to by the Clerk under the seal of 142 
the Town, and shall be in such form and contain such terms and provisions not 143 
inconsistent herewith as they may approve, their approval to be conclusively evidenced 144 
by their execution thereof.  145 

Section 11.  Reimbursement Resolution. 146 

11.1 The Town hereby resolves and declares its official intent pursuant to Section 1.150-2(e) 147 
of the Treasury Regulations that the Town reasonably expects to use the proceeds of the 148 
Bonds to reimburse certain original expenditures from the Town’s general or other fund, 149 
paid not earlier than 60 days prior to adoption of this Ordinance or to be paid, which 150 
original expenditures have been or will be incurred in connection with costs of the 151 
Project.  The Town reasonably expects that the maximum principal amount that the Town 152 
will issue to finance the Project is $5,000,000.  An attested copy of this Ordinance and 153 
declaration of official intent shall be kept in the permanent records of the Town and be 154 
reasonably available for public inspection. 155 

Section 12.  Costs of the Project. 156 



5 
 

12.1 The term “cost” or “costs,” as used in this Ordinance and applied to the Project, includes 157 
all costs related to the Project, including without limitation (1) costs to acquire, design, 158 
engineer, construct, renovate, repair, improve, equip, and furnish all or any portion of the 159 
Project and of any infrastructure related to the Project, and of any addition or expansion 160 
to existing building(s) for the Project, as applicable; (2) costs of landscaping, site 161 
preparation, and removal and demolition of any existing buildings and improvements; 162 
(3) costs of land, easements, other real property interests, and licenses acquired or 163 
conveyed in connection with the Project; (4) costs of planning and development, site 164 
selection, preparation of specifications, surveys, engineering and feasibility studies, and 165 
other professional services associated with the Project; (5) costs of environmental 166 
studies, appraisals, and assessments; (6) interest costs on the Bonds for the period prior 167 
to and during construction and for a period not greater than the earlier of the date the 168 
Project is placed in service and the date three years from the issue date of the Bonds; and 169 
(7) financing charges and issuance costs related to the sale and issuance of Bonds, 170 
including without limitation premiums for insurance, capitalized interest, financial 171 
advisor fees and costs, underwriters’ fees and costs, legal and accounting fees and costs, 172 
application fees, and other fees and expenses. 173 

Section 13. Filing; Publication. 174 

13.1 An attested copy of this Ordinance shall be filed with the Clerk. 175 

Section 14. Referendum Election. 176 

 14.1 In accordance with Section 6.07 of the Charter, the Bonds and the Project shall be 177 
submitted to the qualified voters of the Town at a referendum election to be held on 178 
Tuesday, November 5, 2019, after public hearings in the manner and form prescribed in 179 
Section 2.14 of the Charter and by law; the Clerk shall take all actions required of the 180 
Clerk for that referendum election to be called and held; and a referendum question in 181 
the following form shall appear in the warrant and on the ballot at said referendum 182 
election, accompanied by a signed statement of the Treasurer setting forth the 183 
information required by Section 6.07(4) of the Charter:  184 

Shall the Town of Kittery council be authorized to issue bonds in a total 185 
amount not to exceed $5,000,000 for the purpose of funding costs to 186 
expand, renovate, and improve the Rice Public Library? 187 

Section 15. Effective Date. 188 

15.1 This Ordinance shall become effective 30 days after its adoption by the Town Council, 189 
in accordance with Section 2.14(3) of the Charter. 190 

INTRODUCED in a public session of the Town Council on the 12th day of August, 2019, 191 
by: ____________________________ {NAME}.   192 

Motion to approve by Councilor ____________________________ {NAME}, as seconded 193 
by Councilor ____________________________ {NAME} and passed by a vote of ______. 194 



6 
 

THIS ORDINANCE IS DULY AND PROPERLY ORDAINED by the Town Council of 195 
the Town of Kittery, Maine, on the 12th day of August, 2019,  196 
 197 

 198 

____________________________ {NAME}, Chairperson. 199 

A true copy, attest: 200 

_______________________ 201 
Town Clerk 202 



ADOPTED: March 26, 2018 

LIBRARY BUILDING COMMITTEE 
 
CHARGE 
 
The KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL: 
 
Hereby establishes the Library Building Committee as follows: 

1. The Library Building Committee membership will consist of two Town Councilors appointed by 
the Town Council, two Library Board members appointed by the Library Board of Directors, 
and five residents appointed by the Town Council.  The Town Manager, the Finance Director, 
and the Library Director will serve on the committee as ex officio members. 

2. The Council wishes to appoint the resident representatives with recommended by the Council 
and Library Board members of the Committee.  The recommended resident appointees will be 
selected from a pool of candidates who apply to be on the Library Building Committee, and who 
present a beneficial combination of background and experience, interest in the project, and 
availability to actively participate in the Committee’s work. 

3. The Council wishes the Committee to develop and complete the renovation and expansion of 
the Rice Public Library Building as a project. The Committee will recommend a professional 
design team to be engaged for the project, and work with the design team to develop a concept 
design, conduct schematic design, generate construction drawings, engage in permitting, develop 
cost estimates, bid for contractors, and oversee implementation of the design plans. 

4. The Council expects the Committee will propose a bond referendum for funding for the project, 
in accordance with professionally developed cost estimates and designs. 

5. The Council expects the Committee to submit periodic progress and status reports no less often 
than quarterly through the project design phase, and monthly or more frequently through the 
construction phase.  Project reports will include design highlights, renderings, cost estimates and 
project schedules as available. 

6. The Committee is expected to encourage input and participation from residents, businesses, 
applicable boards, commissions and committees, and experts in the execution of its tasks.  

7. The Committee will elect a chair and vice chair and organize itself; and meet as often as it 
determines necessary to complete its tasks. 

8. The Committee reports to the Town Council as a whole through its Chairs.  It has no authority 
with municipal departments and staff, except as it may be requested of, and directed by, the 
Town Manager. 

9. The Council herewith dissolves the Committee upon the completion of its charge and beneficial 
occupancy of the facility, or four years after its creation, whichever occurs first. 



REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – ANIMAL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION

1 

RESPONSIBLE INDIVIDUAL:  Councilor Charles Denault Date:  07-08-2019 

Subject: ANIMAL CONTROL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION 

Prelude: 
The intent of this report to Council is to seek public opinion, clarify regulations, build consistency and 
organize the sections of the code as it relates to Animal Control.  

Background:  
The recently passed 2019 municipal budget funds a full time Animal Control Officer. Kittery has three 
ordinances pertaining to dogs, and Park rules for Fort Foster.  Over the last several years, there have 
been questions raised as to whether Kittery has a leash law, and a significant level of confusion about 
what is and is not allowed as it relates to dogs in public spaces.  

Leash laws protect the members of the public and the dog. Leash laws allow citizens who come across a 
dog to have a sense of order and safety. People have a right to be free of fear or concerns regarding dogs 
approaching them while enjoying a public park.  Dog owners are interested in having somewhere to let 
their dogs run.  

Dogs in Kittery are allowed to run at-large under the owner’s control. There is much debate regarding 
when a dog is under the owner’s control.  Many towns have built dog parks and made it a destination to 
let their dogs run and socialize as well as allowing a place for the owners to converse.  

There are several reasons cited for the enactment of leash laws: 
1. Unpredictable Situations
The best-behaved dogs can react unpredictably in new situations, especially if they are scared. Even if
you are alone on the trail/river/lake, others can show up and change the scene in an instant. Children,
vehicles, animals, and even bad weather can cause a dog to forget what “come” means.

2. Hidden Hazards
When you are hiking and no one else is around, it may be especially difficult to obey leash laws.
Nevertheless, often these laws are in place to protect your dog’s life. It may help in the event of an
accident or illness, sudden cliffs, loose rocks, animal traps, deep snow, toxic plants and wild animals
are all potentially very dangerous to dogs. Keeping your dog on a leash ensures you will always know
where he/she is headed, and you can help him in an emergency.

3. Vulnerable On-Leash Dogs
It is common for on-leash dogs to feel vulnerable when approached by off-leash dogs. They sense that
the other dogs are free to do as they please, while they are tethered to their human. The result can be
fearful or protective behavior, which may set off a “fight or flight” instinct in your dog.  If the dog
chooses “fight”, the owner could end up in hot water. Legally, the owner would be held responsible for
injuries to humans, pets, and damage to property. The owner could also face citations from local law
enforcement, not to mention the awful feeling of knowing your pet caused harm that could have been
prevented.

http://www.petsbest.com/dog-insurance


REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – ANIMAL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION 
 
 

2 
 

4. Safety 
Citizens should not have a fear that a dog, running at-large, is going to jump, bite or interfere with their 
activity. A dog’s temperament can turn at any time and they can injure or kill other dogs, children or 
adults. Some dogs can turn on their owners. A leash law’s intent is to have the dog under the control of 
the owner.  
 
Kittery’s references to dogs running at-large need clarifications. The fact that when, where and why dogs 
can be at-large, is referenced in different sections of the code and the Fort Foster rules. They seem to be 
in conflict with one another, ambiguous and perhaps outdated.  We even have signs that state; “DOGS 
MUST BE ON A LEASH AT ALL TIMES” yet this is not exactly the case.  
 
Kittery’s dog laws have been addressed many times over the years and still seems to be insufficient to 
serve the public. Our Town Code says, a leash no more than 8 feet is allowed, but a quick look at dog 
walkers, one would find retractable leashes that may exceed the length limit. Many retractable leashes 
may not be the type to match the strength and size of the dog.  
 
Current Situation: 
 
As you review Maine law and Town Codes, you will find that Maine Law states:  
 
Title 7, §3911. Dogs at-large  
“It is unlawful for any dog, licensed or unlicensed, to be at-large, except when used for hunting. The 
owner or keeper of any dog found at-large is subject to the penalties provided in this chapter. [1999, c. 
254, §3 (AMD).]” 
 
What is the States definition of AT-LARGE?   
 
At-large.  "At-large" means off the premises of the owner and not under the control of any person whose 
personal presence and attention would reasonably control the conduct of the animal. 
In general, 7 MRS §3950 empowers municipalities, “to adopt or retain more stringent ordinances, laws 
or regulations dealing with the subject matter”;  
 
Kittery’s Town Code Chapter § 6.1.0 Conflict with other laws says, “If in conflict with any section of this 
chapter, the provisions of Chapter 12.4 (Seapoint/Crescent Beaches) or Chapter 12.5 (Fort Foster) will 
apply.” 
 
Kittery’s Town Code §6.1.1  
For the purpose of this chapter, the following terms shall have the meanings ascribed to them in this 
section. 
 
AT-LARGE 
Off the premises of the owner, unless: 

A.  Controlled by a leash, cord or chain of not more than eight feet in length; 

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/7/title7sec3950.html
https://ecode360.com/15062464#15062464
https://ecode360.com/15062467#15062467
https://ecode360.com/15062468#15062468


REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – ANIMAL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION 
 
 

3 
 

B.  Within a vehicle or under restraint in an open vehicle being driven or parked on a public 
way; or 
C.  Under the control of a person, whose personal presence and attention would control the 
conduct of the dog. 

 
§ 6.1.12 Running at-large prohibited.  
No dog is permitted to run at-large within the limits of the Town; however, this section does not 
prohibit the owner of a dog from using such dog for hunting, provided the dog is under the control of 
its owner. 
 
This Code mirrors Maine State Law. 
 
As you read the Maine law, Town Code Chapter 6, 6.1.0, 6.1.1 and 6.1.12 you will not see where VOICE 
CONTROL is an option nor is it mentioned. If it is the opinion of this Council that voice control is an 
option, then a definition of voice control and under owners’ control should be added to the Code. In 
addition, Town Code 12.4 and 12.5 have run on sentences that make interpretation challenging.  
Clarification of these ordinances is definitely warranted.  
 
SEAPOINT AND CRESENT BEACHES 
§ 12.4.8 Animals.  
A. No domestic animal is allowed within Seapoint or Crescent Beaches, except that dogs, while under 
the control of their owner or keeper, are allowed on Crescent and Seapoint Beaches at times other 
than between the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. from June 15 through September 10 of each year. 
This limitation does not apply to guide or Seeing Eye dogs when used as such. At no time may the 
owner or keeper of any dog allow that dog to run at-large on Crescent or Seapoint Beaches or enter 
upon any publicly owned salt marsh immediately adjacent to Seapoint or Crescent Beach. From May 15 
to September 30, inclusive, only dogs licensed to Town residents are allowed on Seapoint and Crescent 
Beaches. 
 
B. A pooper-scooper rule is in effect for dogs. Owners and keepers must properly dispose of animal waste 
either by placing it in supplied receptacle(s) or, if one is not supplied, by taking it with them when leaving 
the beaches. 
 
FORT FOSTER 
§ 12.5.1 Animals.  
With the exception of dogs, no domestic animals are allowed in Fort Foster Park, and dogs are subject 
to the following conditions: 
 
A.  Dogs must be leashed at all times during park hours (10:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.) on weekends in May 
and September and every day from Memorial Day to Labor Day, inclusive. A maximum leash of eight feet 
is allowed. 
 
B.  While under control of the owner or keeper, dogs are also allowed in the park during the following 
days and times: 

https://ecode360.com/15062469#15062469
https://ecode360.com/15062470#15062470
https://ecode360.com/15062464#15062484
https://ecode360.com/15064107#15064107
https://ecode360.com/15064108#15064108
https://ecode360.com/15064109#15064109
https://ecode360.com/15064128#15064128
https://ecode360.com/15064129#15064129
https://ecode360.com/15064130#15064130


REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – ANIMAL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION 
 
 

4 
 

(1)  During weekdays, prior to Memorial Day in May; 
(2)  Before park opening (sunrise to 10:00 a.m.) between Memorial Day and Labor Day; 
(3)  During weekdays, after Labor Day in September; and 
(4)  Between sunrise and sunset from October 1 to April 30, inclusive. 
 
C. A "pooper scooper" rule is in effect for dogs. Owners or keepers must take their dogs' solid waste with 
them when leaving the park. 
 
Again, it says the following. TC 12.4, No domestic animal is allowed within Seapoint or Crescent Beaches, 
except that dogs, while under the control of their owner or keeper, are allowed on Crescent and Seapoint 
Beaches at times other than between the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. from June 15 through 
September 10 of each year. 
 
It is interesting to note that 12.4 also states that: 
 
At no time may the owner or keeper of any dog allow that dog to run at-large on Crescent or Seapoint 
Beaches or enter upon any publicly owned salt marsh immediately adjacent to Seapoint or Crescent 
Beach.” 
 
Then it goes on to say, “From May 15 to September 30, inclusive, only dogs licensed to Town residents 
are allowed on Seapoint and Crescent Beaches.” 
 
The Code appears to be confusing here as well. 
 
There is no mention of VOICE CONTROL. It should be added to the code. 
 
As we look at the Fort Foster Rules and Regulations, we find that the Rules state; 
 
FORT FOSTER PARK POLICIES AND REGULATIONS  
 
 9. Dogs must be kept on a leash at all times. Owners will be asked to leave the park if their dog is not 
under control.  
 
These laws are ambiguous and perhaps do not capture the intent. Fort Foster Rules state that the dogs 
must be on leash. Seapoint beach states that no dogs can be on the beaches or marsh adjacent to. It 
further reads that from May15th to September 30th only dogs licensed to Town residents are allowed on 
Seapoint and Crescent Beaches. But June 15th to September 10th dogs a prohibited between 10:00 am 
and 5:00 p.m. 
 
Even dog owners who are walking their dogs on leashes do not want to have other dogs bothering their 
dogs, exploring or other acts that dogs do and want the safety of knowing that their dog is not going to 
be hurt.  
 
Researching Legal definitions, one will find: 

https://ecode360.com/15064131#15064131
https://ecode360.com/15064132#15064132
https://ecode360.com/15064133#15064133
https://ecode360.com/15064134#15064134


5 

REPORT to the KITTERY TOWN COUNCIL – ANIMAL ORDINANCE CLARIFICATION

The general definition of dog under control 
When your dog is 'under control'. A dog is considered ‘under control’ if it is on a lead held by someone 
able to control the dog. For example, a large dog would not be under control if its lead was held by a 
child who would be unable to restrain the dog if it strained against the lead. 

Legal definition from the dictionary 
UNDER CONTROL (adverb) 
 The adverb UNDER CONTROL has 1 sense: 

1. unable to act freely
 Familiarity information: UNDER CONTROL used as an adverb is very rare. 

There are other issues that need addressing as well. Such as abusing animals, tethering, shelters and 
dog feces. As the rules and ordinances state, dog feces must be removed. It does not address when 
people leave it along park paths and roads with the intent is to take it out of the park.  This is littering 
by Maine Law definition. 

Proposed Solution: 
1. Revise and clarify Town Code 6.1 and combine all of the dog ordinances and language into one 

section or within one chapter of the Code and clarify exactly what can and cannot be done.
2. Define or add clarity, at-large, on leash, Under Control and add voice control and tethered.
3. Give a solid foundation for the new animal control officer to address the concerns of the 

citizens and enforce the ordinances of the town.
4. Place on the November 5th ballot non-binding referendum questions asking the voters

a. Do you favor a leash law?
b. Do you favor prohibiting unleashed dogs at Fort Foster?
c. Do you favor prohibiting unleashed dogs at Seapoint and Crescent beaches?
d. Do you favor the Town creating a dog park?

5. Revisit the ordinance should the citizens non-binding referendum give the council clarity. 

Rationale for the Proposed Solution: 
• Clarification of the ordinance will be beneficial to both those who use the parks for dog walking

and exercise and those who want to enjoy the parks with and without dogs.
• Make it clear when and where the dogs are allowed to run at-large.
• Define under the owners’ control for all to understand.
• Obtain clear input from the voter’s regarding adding a leash law.
• Seek public input on building a real dog park for all to use.

Next Steps: 
• Council to schedule a public hearing in July
• Public hearing in August or September

Attachments: 
• Proposed ordinance revisions
• Relevant State Statutes

https://www.audioenglish.org/dictionary/under_control.htm#adv


DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

1 
 

Chapter 6.1 Dogs Animal Control 

§ 6.1.0 Conflict with other laws.  1 
If in conflict with any section of this chapter, the provisions of Chapter 12.4 (Seapoint/Crescent Beaches) 2 
or Chapter 12.5 (Fort Foster) will apply.In the event of any conflict in the provisions of this article with 3 
the provisions of any present or future statute relating thereto, the most restrictive or that imposing the 4 
higher standards governs. 5 

§ 6.1.1 Definitions.  6 
For the purpose of this chapter, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to them in this section. 7 

ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER  Includes municipal police officer. 8 

AT-LARGE  Off the premises of the owner, unless: 9 
A. Controlled by a leash leash, cord or chain of not more than eight feet in length;  10 

B. Within a vehicle or under restraint in an open vehicle being driven or parked on a public way; or  11 

C. Under the control of a person whose personal presence, voice, and attention would control the 12 
conduct of the doganimal.  13 

LEASH A non-retractable cord or chain that is no more than eight (8) feet in length. 14 

OWNER Any person keeping or harboring a dog or other animal. 15 

PET Any mammalian animal domesticated to serve as a companion, excluding service dogs. 16 

RESPONSIBLE PARTY Any person who has possession, custody, or control of an animal. 17 

 VOICE CONTROL An animal under control of a person by voice command such that the animal returns 18 
immediately to the person upon calling and remains by their side.   19 
 20 
§6.1.2. Control of pets on public property. 21 
A. No pet is allowed to be at large on any public property, or on private property without the consent 22 
of the property owner.  This section does not prohibit the owner from using a dog for hunting, provided 23 
the dog is under the control of its owner. 24 

B. No dog is allowed to approach within ten (10) feet of any person other than the owner or 25 
responsible party unless such person has communicated to the owner or responsible party, by word or 26 
gesture, their consent to be approached by the dog. 27 

C. Owners must remove and properly dispose of feces left by their dog(s) on any improved portion of 28 
public ways or sidewalks, and in public parks.  Owners or responsible party must maintain possession of 29 
their dog’s feces while on public property. 30 

D. Fort Foster 31 
1. Dogs must be leashed during park hours on weekends in May and September, and every day from 32 

Memorial Day to Labor Day, inclusive. 33 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

2 
 

E. Seapoint and Crescent Beaches 34 
1. Only dogs licensed in the Town of Kittery are permitted from June 15 through September 10, 35 
inclusive. 36 

2. Dogs are prohibited from the beaches between 10AM and 5PM from June 15 through September 10, 37 
inclusive.  38 

§ 6.1.3 Menacing activity.  39 
The owner of any animal confined on private property or in a vehicle may not permit that animal to 40 
menace or bite any person. 41 

§ 6.1.4 Proper shelter, protection from the weather and humanely clean conditions. 42 
A. Dogs may not be tethered for periods of time exceeding 24 hours.  43 

B. Dogs may not be tethered outside without shelter in temperatures 0 degrees Fahrenheit or lower, or 44 
95 degrees Fahrenheit or greater, for more than 30 minutes.   45 

§ 6.1.2 5 License required.Applicability to visiting nonresidents.  46 
No dog may be kept within the limits of the Town unless such dog has been licensed by its owner in 47 
accordance with the statutes of the state. The licensing provisions of this chapter do not apply to any 48 
dog belonging to a nonresident visiting within the Town without the intention of becoming a resident, 49 
but the owner of such dog must comply with the remaining provisions of this chapter.  50 

§ 6.1.3 6 Right of entry to inspect license, dog.  51 
For the purpose of discharging the duties imposed by this chapter and to enforce the provisions of this 52 
chapter, any animal control officer is empowered, with the consent of the owner or occupant thereof, 53 
to enter upon any premises on which an dog animal is kept or harbored, and to demand the exhibition 54 
by the owner of the dog andof the license of such if the animal is a dog. 55 

§ 6.1.4 7 Hindering officers, improperly releasing dogs prohibited.  56 
No person may interfere with, hinder or molest anythe animal control officer in the performance of the 57 
officer's duty or seek to release any dog pet in the custody of an the animal control authority, except as 58 
provided in this chapter. 59 

§ 6.1.5 8 Record to be kept by animal control officer; contents.  60 
It is the duty of an the animal control officer to keep, or cause to be kept, an accurate and detailed 61 
record of the licensing, impoundment and disposition of all dogs animals coming into the officer's 62 
custody. 63 

§ 6.1.6 License required.  64 
No dog may be kept within the limits of the Town unless such dog has been licensed by its owner in 65 
accordance with the statutes of the state. 66 

§ 6.1.7 9 Impoundment authorized.  67 
Unlicensed dogs, wherever found, or dogs and other pets found running at large will may be taken by an 68 
the animal control officer and impounded in an animal shelter. Such animal may be confined for a 69 
period of not fewer than 10 days unless earlier reclaimed under the provisions of § 6.1.911. 70 

§ 6.1.8 10 Impoundment fees.  71 
Any dog pet impounded in accordance with this chapter may be reclaimed upon payment of the total 72 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

3 
 

fees for board. This fee is paid to the keeper of the animal. 73 

§ 6.1.9 11 Disposition of impounded dog, notification of impoundment.  74 
A. An dog  owner may reclaim an impounded dog pet upon compliance with § 6.1.6licensing as 75 
applicable, and upon payment of assessed fines and the boarding fees set forth in §  6.1.810. Any dog 76 
pet impounded under the provisions of this chapter and not claimed by the owner within the ten-day 77 
period is considered abandoned by the owner and the property of the animal shelter. The dog animal 78 
may be given, after consultation with the Humane Society and/or the Animal Refuge League, to the 79 
Humane Society or the Animal Refuge League, any no kill shelter, or to any person deemed to be 80 
responsible and a suitable owner, who will agree to comply with the provisions of this chapter or 81 
humanely destroy the animal.  82 

B. Where the ownership of an impounded petdog is known, or can be reasonably ascertained by an 83 
the animal control officer, such officer shall, if possible, notify the owner within three days of such 84 
impoundment, but failure to give such notice does not impose any liability upon the Town for the 85 
destruction or transfer to another of any dog pet so impounded and not reclaimed within the required 86 
period.  87 

C.     Where the ownership of an impounded pet cannot be reasonably ascertained, the animal control 88 
officer shall post in the Town Hall, on the Town website, and at the Kittery Community Center, for seven 89 
(7) days, a notice giving a description of the pet, where it was impounded, and how it may be recovered. 90 

§ 6.1.10 12 Disposition of dog biting person.  91 
Whenever any dog bites a person, the owner of such dog must immediately notify an the animal control 92 
officer, who may order the dog held on the owner's premises or have it impounded for a period of two 93 
(2) weeks. The dog must be examined immediately after it has bitten any person and again at the end of 94 
the two-week period. If at the end of the two weeks a veterinarian is convinced that the dog is then free 95 
from rabies, the dog is released from quarantine or from the pound, as the case may be. If the dog dies 96 
within the period, its head must be sent to the State Department of Health for must be notified to 97 
perform a rabies examination. 98 

§ 6.1.11 13 Disturbing the peace.  99 
No person owning any dog may suffer or permit such dog to disturb the peace and quiet of the 100 
neighborhood by continuous barking, by making other loud or unusual noises, or by running through or 101 
across cultivated gardens or fields.The owner of any pet or other animal may not permit that pet or 102 
animal to bark, crow, cackle, talk, sing, or make other noises for a single period of fifteen (15) minutes or 103 
more.   104 

§ 6.1.12 15 Running at large prohibited.  105 
No dog is permitted to run at large within the limits of the Town; however, this section does not prohibit 106 
the owner of a dog from using such dog for hunting, provided the dog is under the control of its owner. 107 

§ 6.1.13 Animal waste.  108 
It is a violation of this chapter for any owner of a dog to fail to remove and properly dispose of feces left 109 
by his or her dog(s) on any improved portion of public ways or sidewalks. 110 

§ 6.1.14  164 Violations and penalties.  111 
Any violation of this chapter will be assessed a penalty under Title 1, Chapter 1.3.of $50.00 for the first 112 
offense, $100.00 for the second offense and $200.00 for each offense thereafter. 113 

114 



DRAFT: July 8, 2019 

4 
 

Chapter 12.4 Seapoint and Crescent Beaches 115 

12.4.8 Animals.  116 

A. With the exception of dogs, no domestic animals are allowed on Seapoint and Crescent Beaches, and 117 
dogs are subject to the following conditionsTown Code 6.1 Animal Control 118 

A. No domestic animal is allowed within Seapoint or Crescent Beaches, except that dogs, while under 119 
the control of their owner or keeper, are allowed on Crescent and Seapoint Beaches at times other than 120 
between the hours of 10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. from June 15 through September 10 of each year. This 121 
limitation does not apply to guide or seeing eye dogs when used as such. At no time may the owner or 122 
keeper of any dog allow that dog to run at large on Crescent or Seapoint Beaches or enter upon any 123 
publicly owned salt marsh immediately adjacent to Seapoint or Crescent Beach. From May 15 to 124 
September 30, inclusive, only dogs licensed to Town residents are allowed on Seapoint and Crescent 125 
Beaches.  126 

 B. A pooper-scooper rule is in effect for dogs. Owners and keepers must properly dispose of animal 127 
waste either by placing it in supplied receptacle(s) or, if one is not supplied, by taking it with them when 128 
leaving the beaches. 129 

Chapter 12.5 Fort Foster 130 

§ 12.5.1. Animals. 131 

With the exception of dogs, no domestic animals are allowed in Fort Foster Park, and dogs are subject to 132 
the following conditionsTown Code 6.1 Animal Control. 133 

A. Dogs must be leashed at all times during park hours (10:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m.) on weekends in May 134 
and September and every day from Memorial 135 
Day to Labor Day, inclusive. A maximum leash of eight feet is allowed. 136 

B. While under control of the owner or keeper, dogs are also allowed in the park during the following 137 
days and times: 138 

(1) During weekdays, prior to Memorial Day in May; 139 

(2) Before park opening (sunrise to 10:00 a.m.) between Memorial Day and Labor Day; 140 

(3) During weekdays, after Labor Day in September; and 141 

(4) Between sunrise and sunset from October 1 to April 30, inclusive. 142 

A. A "pooper scooper" rule is in effect for dogs. Owners or keepers must take their dogs' solid waste 143 
with them when leaving the park. 144 



Maine Revised Statutes

Title 7: AGRICULTURE AND ANIMALS

Chapter 739: CRUELTY TO ANIMALS

§4015. PROPER SHELTER, PROTECTION FROM THE WEATHER AND
HUMANELY CLEAN CONDITIONS

No person owning or responsible for confining or impounding any animal may fail to provide the animal
with proper shelter, protection from the weather and humanely clean conditions as prescribed in this section.
[1997, c. 456, §7 (AMD).]

1. Indoor standards.  Minimum indoor standards of shelter shall be as follows.

A. The ambient temperature shall be compatible with the health of the animal. [1987, c. 383, §3
(NEW).]

B. Indoor housing facilities shall be adequately ventilated by natural or mechanical means to provide for
the health of the animal at all times. [1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW).]

[ 1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW) .]

2. Outdoor standards.  Minimum outdoor standards of shelter are as follows.

A. When sunlight is likely to cause heat exhaustion of an animal tied or caged outside, sufficient shade
by natural or artificial means must be provided to protect the animal from direct sunlight. As used in this
paragraph, "caged" does not include farm fencing used to confine livestock. [2007, c. 439, §27
(AMD).]

B. Except as provided in subsections 5, 5-A and 6, shelter from inclement weather must be as follows.

(1) An artificial shelter, with a minimum of 3 sides and a waterproof roof, appropriate to the local
climatic conditions and for the species and breed of the animal must be provided as necessary for
the health of the animal.

(2) If a dog is tied or confined unattended outdoors under weather conditions that adversely affect
the health of the dog, a shelter must be provided in accordance with subsection 6, paragraph
A to accommodate the dog and protect it from the weather and, in particular, from severe
cold. Inadequate shelter may be indicated by the shivering of the dog due to cold weather for a
continuous period of 10 minutes or by symptoms of frostbite or hypothermia. A metal barrel is not
adequate shelter for a dog. [2011, c. 76, §1 (AMD).]

C.  [2007, c. 702, §16 (RP).]

[ 2011, c. 76, §1 (AMD) .]

3. Space standards.  Minimum space requirements for both indoor and outdoor enclosures shall include
the following.

A. The housing facilities shall be structurally sound and maintained in good repair to protect the animal
from injury and to contain the animal. [1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW).]

B. Enclosures shall be constructed and maintained to provide sufficient space to allow each animal
adequate freedom of movement. Inadequate space may be indicated by evidence of overcrowding,
debility, stress or abnormal behavior patterns. [1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW).]

[ 1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW) .]

Generated
1.24.2019   |  1



MRS Title 7 §4015. PROPER SHELTER, PROTECTION FROM THE WEATHER AND HUMANELY CLEAN CONDITIONS

4. Humanely clean conditions.  Minimum standards of sanitation necessary to provide humanely clean
conditions for both indoor and outdoor enclosures shall include periodic cleanings to remove excretions and
other waste materials, dirt and trash to minimize health hazards.

[ 1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW) .]

5. Livestock.  Livestock must be provided with shelter suitable for the health of the animal. Except as
provided in subsection 5-A, livestock must have access to a constructed or natural shelter that is large enough
to accommodate all livestock comfortably at one time. The shelter should be well drained and protect the
livestock from direct sun, rain, wind and other inclement weather. Notwithstanding this subsection, shelter
for equines must be provided in accordance with subsection 2, paragraph B, subparagraph (1). For purposes
of this subsection, "livestock" includes large game as defined in section 1341, subsection 5 kept at a licensed
commercial large game shooting area as defined in section 1341, subsection 1.

[ 2011, c. 76, §2 (AMD) .]

5-A. Livestock maintained under a rotational grazing system.  Notwithstanding subsection 5, a
person is not required to provide shelter for livestock while the animals are maintained under a rotational
grazing system as long as the animals do not have injuries or infirmities that prevent them from accessing
food and water and are in good body condition. For the purposes of this subsection, "rotational grazing
system" means the practice of dividing up available pasture into multiple smaller areas during grazing season
when pasture is available to meet the dietary requirements of the animals and subsequently moving the
animals from one area to another after a number of days or weeks as determined by forage production and
quality.

[ 2011, c. 76, §3 (NEW) .]

6. Dogs confined by tethering for long time periods.  In addition to the requirements of subsection 2,
paragraph B, subparagraph (2), when tethering is the primary means of confinement for a dog, the standards
for shelter and tethering are as follows:

A. A shelter must be provided that is fully enclosed except for a portal. The portal must be of a sufficient
size to allow the dog unimpeded passage into and out of the structure. For dogs other than arctic breeds,
the portal must be constructed with a baffle or other means of keeping wind and precipitation out of the
interior. The shelter must be constructed of materials with a thermal resistance factor of 0.9 or greater
and must contain clean bedding material sufficient to retain the dog's normal body heat; and [2007,
c. 439, §28 (AMD).]

B. The chain or tether must be attached to both the dog and the anchor using swivels or similar devices
that prevent the chain or tether from becoming entangled or twisted. The chain or tether must be attached
to a well-fitted collar or harness on the dog. For dogs other than dogs kept as sled dogs or dogs used in
competition, the chain or tether must be at least 5 times the length of the dog measured from the tip of
its nose to the base of its tail. For dogs kept as sled dogs or dogs used in competition, the chain or tether
must be:

(1) At least 2.5 times the length of the dog measured from the tip of its nose to the base of its tail if
the anchor is stationary; or

(2) At least 1.5 times the length of the dog measured from the tip of its nose to the base of its
tail if the anchor is a pivot point allowing a 360° area of movement. [2009, c. 343, §23
(AMD).]

For the purposes of this subsection, "primary means of confinement" means the method used to confine a
dog for periods of time that exceed 12 hours in a 24-hour period. For the purposes of this subsection, "arctic
breeds" means Siberian Huskies, Alaskan Huskies, Alaskan Malamutes and other dogs with a double-layered

2  |  Generated
1.24.2019



MRS Title 7 §4015. PROPER SHELTER, PROTECTION FROM THE WEATHER AND HUMANELY CLEAN CONDITIONS

coat and bred to live in an arctic climate and "dogs kept as sled dogs or dogs used in competition" means dogs
regularly and consistently used in training or participation in competitive or recreational sled dog activities or
other competition canine events.

[ 2009, c. 343, §23 (AMD) .]

SECTION HISTORY
1987, c. 383, §3 (NEW).  1997, c. 456, §§7-9 (AMD).  1999, c. 765, §10
(AMD).  2005, c. 340, §§1,2 (AMD).  2007, c. 439, §§27, 28 (AMD).  2007,
c. 702, §16 (AMD).  2009, c. 343, §23 (AMD).  2011, c. 76, §§1-3 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish this material, we require that you include the
following disclaimer in your publication:

All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this publication reflects changes
made through the Second Special Session of the 128th Maine Legislature and is current through November 1, 2018. The text is subject
to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine Revised
Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.

The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory publication you may produce. Our goal
is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to preserve
the State's copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or interpretation of Maine law to the public.
If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.

Generated
1.24.2019   |  3






























































	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2019.07.08 TMR.pdf
	ADP912B.tmp
	Town of Kittery
	Office of the Town Manager
	200 Rogers Road, Kittery, ME 03904
	Telephone: 207-475-1329 Fax: 207-439-6806
	kamaral@kitteryme.org


	Blank Page
	2019.07.08 Title 6 Animal Control and Non Binding.pdf
	ADP50E1.tmp
	The general definition of dog under control
	Proposed Solution:
	Rationale for the Proposed Solution:

	ADP9B24.tmp
	Chapter 6.1 Dogs Animal Control
	§ 6.1.0 Conflict with other laws.
	§ 6.1.1 Definitions.
	§6.1.2. Control of pets on public property.
	D. Fort Foster
	E. Seapoint and Crescent Beaches
	1. Only dogs licensed in the Town of Kittery are permitted from June 15 through September 10, inclusive.
	2. Dogs are prohibited from the beaches between 10AM and 5PM from June 15 through September 10, inclusive.
	§ 6.1.3 Menacing activity.
	The owner of any animal confined on private property or in a vehicle may not permit that animal to menace or bite any person.
	§ 6.1.4 Proper shelter, protection from the weather and humanely clean conditions.
	A. Dogs may not be tethered for periods of time exceeding 24 hours.
	B. Dogs may not be tethered outside without shelter in temperatures 0 degrees Fahrenheit or lower, or 95 degrees Fahrenheit or greater, for more than 30 minutes.
	§ 6.1.2 5 License required.Applicability to visiting nonresidents.
	§ 6.1.3 6 Right of entry to inspect license, dog.
	§ 6.1.4 7 Hindering officers, improperly releasing dogs prohibited.
	§ 6.1.5 8 Record to be kept by animal control officer; contents.
	§ 6.1.6 License required.
	§ 6.1.7 9 Impoundment authorized.
	§ 6.1.8 10 Impoundment fees.
	§ 6.1.9 11 Disposition of impounded dog, notification of impoundment.
	§ 6.1.10 12 Disposition of dog biting person.
	§ 6.1.11 13 Disturbing the peace.
	§ 6.1.12 15 Running at large prohibited.
	§ 6.1.13 Animal waste.
	§ 6.1.14  164 Violations and penalties.



	Blank Page
	Blank Page



